No. <u>89935-8</u>

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 69644-I



COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

ERIK D. ESBERG,

Plaintiff - Appellant,

V.

JASON D. NELSON and FRANCINE E. NELSON

Defendants - Respondents

ON APPEAL FROM SNOHOMISH COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT (Hon. Judge Janice E. Ellis)

RESPONDENTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

Stephan E. Todd, WSBA # 12429 14319 15th Drive SE Mill Creek, WA 98012 (425) 585-0274 Attorney Respondents

COURTINE ARPEALS DIV I STATE WASHINGTON

III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

In this real estate dispute, the Petitioners ask this Court to review the following issues.

- 1. <u>Marketable title.</u> Whether a judgment against a homeowners' association which the owners of lots in a plat are members and is reported on a title commitment, is a matter that renders the title unmarketable.
- 2. <u>Duty to Investigate</u>. Whether one asserting unmarketability of tile must prove that the title is in fact unmarketable.

For the reasons set forth below, these issue warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4) because the Court of Appeals decision is in

conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court and involves an issue of substantial public interest.

IV. NATURE OF THE CASE AND DECISION BELOW

This case arises out of a conveyance of an unimproved lot in Chelan County by the Appellant ("Ensberg") to Respondents ("Nelson") and the Nelson's attempt to re-sell that real property. At the time of the sale from Ensberg to Nelson, there was a judgment recorded against the homeowners' association governing the plat in which the lot was a located. When the Nelsons attempted to re-sell the lot, the judgment was reported as an exception to title on a title commitment ordered as part of that sale. The party offering to purchase the Nelson's lot refused to close the transaction because of the judgment.

As part of the original sale from Ensberg to Nelson, Nelson executed a promissory note in favor of Ensberg as part of the selling price. When the Nelson's could not sell the property because of the judgment, Nelson refused to pay the remaining balance on the note and Ensberg sued. Nelson counterclaimed claiming breach of the statutory warranty deed and Ensberg's failure to convey marketable title.

Following a bench trial, the trial court dismissed Ensberg's complaint on the promissory note and entered a judgment in favor of RESPONDENT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW - 2

Nelson for Ensberg's breach of the statutory warranty deed. Ensberg appealed and Division I of the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court and remanded the matter to the trial court to enter judgment in favor of Ensberg on the promissory note.¹

The petitioners now seek review by this Court of a single issued raised by the Court of Appeals published opinion.

Following are the facts material to those issues:

At the time of the sale of lot 18 in Key Bay from the Ensberg to the Nelson there was a judgment against the Key Bay Homeowners' Association (hereafter 'HOA') of record with the Chelan County Auditor. (EX. 6). The HOA is the governing body for the Key Bay subdivision in which lot 18 is located. The judgment was entered on March 17, 2008 and was in the amount of \$523,474.00 with interest accruing on the judgment at 12% per annum. It was recorded with the Chelan County Auditor on April 8, 2008. (F/F 1.6) That judgment was not shown as an exception on the statutory warranty deed from Ensberg to Nelson (EX 2).

After the purchase of lot 18 from Ensberg in February 2009,

RESPONDENT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW - 3

.

¹ The Court of Appeals originally issued an unpublished opinion but Ensberg filed a motion in the Court of Appeals asking the Court to publish the decision on the ground that the decision affected the general public. The Court of Appeals granted Ensberg's Motion to Publish on January 14, 2014. (Ensberg's Motion to Publish is attached as App. B.)

Nelson listed the property for sale. (RP 13, lines 20 - 22) In early October 2009, Nelson received an offer on the lot and after some negotiations back and forth with the potential buyers, an agreement was reached to sell the lot for \$216,000.00 (RP 13, lines 22 - 24; EX 15). This amount would have been sufficient to pay the underlying debt on the property, the closing costs, real estate commissions, taxes and so forth and provide a small profit to Nelson. After the purchase and sale agreement was signed, the transaction was placed with escrow in Wenatchee and a title commitment was obtained.

The title commitment listed various encumbrances on the title including the deed of trust in favor of Ensberg. (EX 26). The title commitment also listed as an encumbrance the March 17, 2008 judgment against the Key Bay Homeowners' Association. Paragraph 12 of Schedule B of the title commitment provided the following exception:

12. JUDGMENT:

AGAINST: KEY BAY HOMEOWNERS

ASSOCIATION,ET AL

IN FAVOR OF: DEEP WATER BREWING, LLC

AMOUNT: \$523,474.00

CHELAN COUNTY JUDGMENT NO: 08-9-00369-8

SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE

NO: 02-2-00848-2

The buyers exercised their contractual right to disapprove any matter on the title report and on October 24, 2009 they executed an addendum to the purchase and sale agreement requiring the removal of the judgment against the homeowners' association as an encumbrance. (EX 31). The buyers also required Nelson to agree to the following:

Buyer shall not be liable for any judgment settlement amount presently or in the future owed by the Key Bay Homeowners Association et al in regard to exception #12 in Schedule B involving the judgment in favor of Deepwater Brewing, LLC. Seller will pay off their share of any judgment settlement amount related to their liability due from them as a result of the judgment in favor of Deepwater Brewing LLC prior to closing.

(EX 31; RP 18, lines 2 – 5). Nelson did not agree to this, but urged the title company to revisit the judgment issue. On October 29, 2009, the judgment under Schedule B of the title report was removed as an exception and instead it was included as a "Note" in the title commitment (EX 27):

NOTE 10: JUDGMENT:

AGAINST: KEY BAY HOMEOWNERS ASSOC. ET AL

IN FAVOR OF: DEEP WATER BREWING LLC.

AMOUNT: \$523.474.00 CHELAN COUNTY JUDGMENT NO: 08-9-00369-8 SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO: 02-2-00848-2

THE JDUGMENT AGAINST THE KEY BAY HOMEOWNERS' ASSOCIATION, A WASHINGTON NONPROFIT CORPORATION (THE "ASSOCIATION"), HAS NOT ATTACHED TO THE TITLE TO THE LAND DESCRIBED IN SCHEDULE A HEREIN. IF, AFTER APPEAL, THE JUDGMENT ATTACHES TO THE ASSOCIATION'S INTEREST. THE ASSOCIATION MAY LEVY ASSESSMENTS AGAINST EACH LOT TO RECOVER THE FUNDS OWED TO THE JUDGMENT CREDITOR. THIS NOTE PROVIDES NOTICE OF THE POTENTIAL FUTURE LIABILITY FOR SUCH ASSESSMENT(S).

On November 4, 2009, the buyers sent Nelson a Rescission of the purchase and sell agreement, which Nelson signed on November 7, 2009, the original closing date of the transaction (EX 32).

V. REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW

A. The Court of Appeals decision is not consistent with this Court's decision in *Hebb v. Severson*, 32 Wn.2d 159, 201 P.2d 156 (1948).

Although the trial court rendered judgment against Ensberg based on a breach of the statutory warranty deed's covenant against encumbrances, the judgment against the HOA also affected the market value of the real property and Nelson argued that Ensberg also breached

his duty to convey good and marketable title. A seller of real property is required to convey good and marketable title to a purchaser:

Even in the absence of any provision in the contract indicating the quality of the title provided for, the law implies an undertaking on the part of the vendor to make and convey a good and marketable title to the purchaser. 55 Am. Jr. 619, Vendor and Purchaser, § 149; notes (1928), 57 A.L.R. 1256, 1260, wherein Washington cases in support of the rule are collected.

Hebb v. Severson, 32 Wn.2d 159, 169, 201 P.2d 156 (1948). In Shinn v. Thrust IV, Inc. 56 Wn. App. 827, 786, P.2d 286 (1990), Division I of the Court of Appeals, relying on Hebb v. Severson, supra., held that the mere possibility of enforcement of restrictions that might not even apply to the land in question, was enough to make the title unmarketable. The Court of Appeals noted that

The Washington Supreme Court has defined marketable title as one being free of reasonable doubt and such as a reasonably informed and intelligent purchaser, exercising ordinary business prudence, would be willing to accept. Such a title need not be perfect in the sense that it is free from every conceivable technical criticism or suspicion, but only from those possibilities of a defect which would give rise to a reasonable question as to its validity.

Shinn v. Thrust IV, Inc., supra, 786 P.2d at 296. The Court of Appeals went on to quote a portion of the Supreme Court's decision in Hebb v. Severson:

RESPONDENT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW - 7

[e]very purchaser of land has a right to demand a title which shall put him in all reasonable security, and which shall protect him from anxiety, lest annoying,

if not successful suits be brought against him, and probably take from him or his representative, land upon which money was invested. He should have a title which shall enable him not only to hold his land, but to hold it in peace; and if he wishes to sell it, to be reasonably sure that no flaw or doubt will come up to disturb its marketable value.

Hebb v. Severson, supra at 166-67. Like the restriction at issue in the Shinn case, the judgment here cast serious doubts about whether any purchaser of lot 18 had reasonable security that his or her investment in lot 18 would not be in jeopardy. The proof at trial clearly established that the effect of the judgment against the HOA was uncertain and that, based on the title company's representation as to the possible effect of the judgment, it was not unreasonable to assume that litigation might ensue to force the HOA to assess lot owners to pay the judgment. The judgment against the HOA was a "flaw or doubt" which, when Nelson attempted to sell lot 18, came up to "disturb its marketable value."

In its decision, the Court of Appeals rejected the Nelsons' argument and held that without proof that the HOA had the authority to levy assessments to pay the HOA judgment, or certainty of the amount that might be owing on the judgment, the title was not unmarketable.

The defect in *Hebb v. Severson* was an apparent violation of covenants that prohibited structures within 5 feet of the property boundary. The title company's inspection of the property indicated that the house on the property was within 5 feet of the boundary. Nevertheless, the title company indicated in the title report that it would insure against any loss as a result of the enforcement of the restriction.

This Court held in *Hebb v. Severson*, that despite a title insurer's willingness to insure against loss, the title to the property was nonetheless unmarketable. Here, the title company went out of its way to disclose the judgment against the HOA and there was no indication that the title company was willing to insure title to the lot without referencing the judgment in the title policy. The Court of Appeals concluded that the title to the Nelson's lot was marketable. A title is unmarketable even if a title company is willing to insure it (*Hebb v. Severson*), but is marketable when the title company is not willing to insure it (*Ensberg v. Nelson*). That makes no logical sense.

B. The decision of the Court of Appeals presents this

Court with an opportunity to clarify the role of title insurance in real

estate transactions and the effect of matters shown on a title report

on the issue of marketability.

RESPONDENT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW - 9

In support of his motion to publish the decision of the Court of Appeals, Ensberg argued that the opinion of the Court of Appeals clarifies a "growing misconception" about the role of title insurance in real estate transactions, and particularly the title commitment or preliminary report issued before the sale is closed. (See Appendix B, Declaration/Argument of David C. Hammermaster Re: Motion to Publish Pursuant to RAP 12.3, page 2). The "misconception", according to Ensberg and now the Court of Appeals, is that the title report is a statement about the legal condition of certain real property. Ensberg went on to argue that "[i]n reality, the title insurance company simply assesses the level or degree of risk it is willing to take for the premium it receives. In that instance, the title insurance company lists everything that they believe poses an unacceptable level of risk as an exception to their coverage." Appendix B, page 2.

The Court of Appeals decision creates doubt whether the general public can or should rely on a title report to assist them in deciding whether to purchase a particular piece of real property.

That is not how normal real estate transactions are conducted. Most purchasers do rely on the title insurance

commitment to determine whether to proceed with the transaction. A prospective purchaser in dealing with a title insurer does expect a professional title search, an opinion as to the title's status, and a guarantee that the title is good. Unlike casualty insurance where the insurer assumes an unknown future risk, title insurers don't insure against future risks, but rather insure against matters affecting title at the time the real estate transaction is closed. Title insurers are about loss prevention rather than risk assumption. Title insurers do title searches for the very purpose of preventing losses and the payment of claims. Indeed, state law requires title insurers to maintain a complete set of tract indexes in the county where it does business. RCW 48.29.020. It is reasonable for prospective buyers to assume that a title insurer searches those indexes and reports its findings.

Consistent with what Ensberg characterizes as this "misconception" by the general public about the role of title insurance in real estate transactions, most real estate purchase and sale agreements provide that the seller will procure a title report, deliver it to the buyer and the buyer will be given the opportunity to object to matters disclosed by the title report. That is what

happened in the instant case. Indeed, it is likely that a prospective buyer is more concerned about what the title report says than the fact of the insurance itself. If the Court of Appeal's decision is correct that a prospective buyer in a real estate transaction cannot rely on a title report in deciding whether to proceed with the transaction, then it would serve the public's interest in knowing that more "due diligence" is required of a buyer than a buyer may now reasonably expect. If a title commitment cannot be relied upon, then a prospective buyer would have to determine on his or her own whether matters that may be disclosed by a title commitment are real, or simply "risk assessments" by the title company.

The Court of Appeals refused to hold that the judgment against the homeowners association rendered the title unmarketable because Nelson had not shown that the judgment creditor could have compelled the homeowners' association to levy assessments to pay the judgment. The Court of Appeals decision shifts the burden on the one claiming an unmarketable title to investigate and establish that the title is in fact not arketable. That is inconsistent with prior decisions of this Court.

In *Moore v. Elliot*, 76 Wash. 520, 136 P. 849 (1913) this Court held that the only issue with regards to marketable title was whether a reasonably well-informed and intelligent purchaser, exercising ordinary business caution would be willing to accept a questionable title.

We are not called upon to decide whether the title offered is in fact good or whether we would so hold it were that question before us. Granting that is was, the question remains: Was that fact so free from doubt that a reasonably well-informed and intelligent purchaser of ordinary business caution would accept it?

In the instant case, the Court of Appeals held against Nelson because Nelson did not present evidence that the HOA had the power to assess homeowners and compel the homeowners to pay the judgment. In prior decisions of this Court, one asserting unmarketability is never under a duty to investigate the issue further. See, *Scott v. Stanley*, 149 Wash. 29, 270 P. 110 (1928) (". . . a purchaser is not required to accept conveyance, even upon a reasonable showing that he can go out and hunt up evidence sufficient to establish in a lawsuit that his title is good.") and *Coonrod v. Studebaker*, 53

Wash. 32, 101 P. 489 (1909) ("The purchaser cannot be put to the peril of hunting up testimony outside of the record . . .").

The only question on appeal should have been whether the information provided by the title company to the prospective purchaser about the judgment against the HOA and the potential effect on the title to the lot was "that fact so free from doubt that a reasonably well-informed and intelligent purchaser of ordinary business caution would accept it?" The fact is that the purchaser from Nelson would not accept the conveyance. The title was not marketable.

VI. CONCLUSION