RECEIVED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
Mar 13, 2014, 4:23 pm  
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER  
CLERK

E CRF  
RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

No. 89925-8

SUPREME COURT OF  
THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

NO. 69644-1  
COURT OF APPEALS  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION I

---

ERIK D. ENSBERG

Plaintiff – Appellant,

v.

JASON D. NELSON and FRANCINE E. NELSON

Defendants – Respondents

---

ON APPEAL FROM SNOHOMISH COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT  
(Hon. Judge Janice E. Ellis)

---

APPELLANT'S RESPONSE TO  
RESPONDENTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

---

David C. Hammermaster, WSBA #22267  
1207 Main Street  
Sumner, WA 98390  
253-863-5115  
Attorney for Appellant

 ORIGINAL

##

### **IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT**

Respondent, Erik D. Ensberg, was the Plaintiff at trial and the Appellant before the Court of Appeals (as also referenced herein).

### **COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

Nelson's statement regarding the Court of Appeals decision is accurate.

### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Respondent, Nelson, has identified, as his first issue, the question of whether Ensberg failed to provide marketable title to the real property in question. The Appellant, Ensberg, will respond to that specific issue.

2. The Respondent, Nelson, has raised, as his second issue, the question of whether a purchaser has a "duty to investigate." The Appellant, Ensberg, will report to that issue.

3. Should this Court award attorney's fees to the Appellant, Ensberg?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant (Ensberg) generally adopts Respondent's (Nelson) statement of the case as set forth in IV of Respondent's Petition for Review with some exceptions. It should be noted that when Ensberg sold to Nelson, title insurance was purchased through First American Title and a preliminary report was issued to the parties. The preliminary report did not note, or raise as an exception to coverage, the judgment previously entered against the Key Bay Homeowner's Association, *et al* (hereinafter "HOA") CP at 17, 11.7-9.

It is further worth noting and clarifying that the preliminary title report issued by a completely different title insurance company in the attempted sale by Nelson to an unrelated third party first identified the judgment against the HOA as an exception to coverage and later reduced it to a "Note." CP at 18, 11.2-5.

As quoted by the Court of Appeals, the "Note" in relevant portions said:

THE JUDGMENT AGAINST THE KEY BANK HOMEOWNER'S ASSOCIATION, A WASHINGTON NONPROFIT CORPORATION (THE "ASSOCIATION"), HAS NOT ATTACHED TO THE TITLE TO THE LAND DESCRIBED IN SCHEDULE A HEREIN. IF, AFTER APPEAL, THE JUDGMENT ATTACHES TO THE

ASSOCIATION'S INTEREST, THE ASSOCIATION MAY LEVY ASSESSMENTS AGAINST EACH LOT TO RECOVER THE FUNDS OWED TO THE JUDGMENT CREDITOR. THIS NOTE PROVIDES NOTICE OF THE POTENTIAL FUTURE LIABILITY FOR SUCH ASSESSMENT(S).

Finally, it is important to know that neither Ensberg nor Nelson was aware of the existence of this judgment at the time of the sale. CP at 16, 11.18-20. However, both parties could have investigated the matter as property owners. Not only did Ensberg own the parcel he sold to Nelson but Nelson had purchased two (2) other lots within the same development and still owned one (1) of those lots at the time of his purchase of the Nelson parcel. CP at 15, 11.7-8 and RP at 72, 11.11-14. Furthermore, Nelson was friends with Jack Johnson, one of the other judgment debtors. RP at 33, 11.2-8. If anyone was in a better position to know of this judgment, it was Nelson.

### ARGUMENT

#### **I. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION IS CONSISTENT WITH THE SUPREME COURT'S DECISION IN *HEBB vs. SEVERSON*.**

On the question of marketable title, the word "title" is as important as the word "marketable." Nelson is attempting to persuade this Court that any negative influence on the value of the property, no

matter how unrelated to title, if not excepted on the deed, will result in a breach of the Statutory Warranty Deed. That is not the law in *Hebb* and for very good reasons.

Nelson continues to misapply *Hebb v. Severson*, 32 Wn. 2d 159, 201 P.2d 156 (1948), by stretching it to propositions it never purports to make. In *Hebb*, the Court determined that the title was not marketable because of a direct, existing defect on the title, to-wit, the house existed within the five-foot set-back restriction. Nelson, in his Petition to this Court, quotes only small portions of the *Hebb* decision to suit his argument and ignores the larger picture of that case and then directs this Court to focus more on the Court of Appeals decision *Shinn v. Thrust IV, Inc.* 56 Wn. App. 827, 786 P.2d 286 (1990).

Nelson, in his petition for review, also mischaracterizes the Court of Appeals ruling in this case on the issue of marketable title. Nelson attempts to summarize the Court of Appeals ruling as one of simply inadequate evidence regarding the authority of the homeowner's association. In actuality, the Court of Appeals specifically emphasized the difference in the case at bar from the *Shinn* case where a known, present violation of a statute existed. In contrast to *Shinn*, the Court of

Appeals decided that a possible future assessment by a homeowner's association for an unknown amount that did not "give rise to a reasonable question as to the validity of title to the property," did not breach the warranty of marketability.

A better and more accurate analysis of *Hebb* is that 1) the existing violation in that case was the breach of a set-back regulation by an improvement on that real property, and 2) the fact that the title insurance company was willing to insure the property despite the flaw was not relevant to the question.

The court identified the defect as follows:

Immediately following this information concerning the declaration of restrictions is a note stating that the title company's inspection of the premises disclosed a breach of one of these restrictions, in that the dwelling **house located on the lot involved** is less than five feet from the east side line of the premises.

*Hebb v. Severson*, 32 Wn.2d 159, 165, 201 P.2d 156, 159, (1948) (emphasis added).

The Court then identifies the title insurance company's willingness to insure the identified restriction violation:

The policy to issue will, however, affirmatively **insure against loss** or damage resulting from such violation and **will further affirmatively insure that neither said violation nor any future violation of said restrictions will work a forfeiture or reversion of title to said premises.**



*Hebb v. Severson*, 32 Wn.2d 159, 165, 201 P.2d 156, 159 (1948) (emphasis added).

The Court clearly explains that a defect to the title and thus a breach of the warranty deed cannot be made marketable by an insurance company's willingness to insure around the defect. The point being that the title insurance company does not make the rules and what they identify or do not identify does not define the law.

Appellants' major assignment of error is that the trial court erred in decreeing that the appellants specifically perform their contract. In support of this assignment, numerous arguments are advanced, **but the one to which we shall address our attention and upon which we shall rest our decision** is that the title tendered into court by the respondents, though in form a warranty deed covenanting against encumbrances, **was in fact subject to the encumbrance, *inter alia*, of a presently existing violation of a protective restriction; that therefore the title was unmarketable; and that it was not made marketable by a showing of willingness on the part of a title insurance company to insure the appellants against loss incurred by them because of that encumbrance.**

*Hebb v. Severson*, 32 Wn.2d *supra*, at 165-166. (emphasis added).

*Hebb* provides the clearest statement of breach of marketable title and breach of warranty against encumbrances. Both are present warranties that, if breached, must exist at the time of the transaction.

A marketable title is one that is free from reasonable doubt and such as reasonably well informed and intelligent

purchasers, exercising ordinary business caution, would be willing to accept. *Cummings v. Dolan*, 52 Wash. 496, 100 Pac. 989, 132 Am. St. 986; *Somers Co. v. Pix*, 75 Wash. 233, 134 Pac. 932; *Moore v. Elliott*, 76 Wash. 520, 136 Pac. 849; *Robinson v. Steele*, 95 Wash. 154, 163 Pac. 486; *Jacobs v. Teachout*, 126 Wash. 569, 219 Pac. 38; *Empey v. Northwestern & Pac. Hypotheekbank*, 129 Wash. 392, 225 Pac. 226; *Moore v. Clarke*, 157 Wash. 573, 289 Pac. 520. In discussing the meaning of the term "marketable title," this court said in *Moore v. Elliott*, *supra*:

A title to be marketable need not be perfect -- free from every possible technical criticism, but it must be reasonably safe; that is to say, such that a reasonably well informed and intelligent purchaser, exercising ordinary business caution, would be willing to accept.

The authorities hold that to render a title marketable it is only necessary that it shall be free from reasonable doubt, in other words, that a purchaser is not entitled to demand a title absolutely free from every possible technical suspicion, he can only demand such title as a reasonably well informed and intelligent purchaser acting upon business principles would be willing to accept. *Cummings v. Dolan*, 52 Wash. 496, 100 Pac. 989, 132 Am. St. 986.

In *Empey v. Northwestern & Pac. Hypotheekbank*, *supra*, we quoted approvingly the following statement from *Dobbs v. Norcross*, 24 N. J. Eq. 327, having reference to marketable title:

Every purchaser of land has a right to demand a title which shall put him in all reasonable security, and which shall protect him from anxiety, lest annoying, if not successful suits be brought against him, and probably take from him or his representatives, land upon which money was invested. **He should have a title which shall enable him not only to hold his land, but to hold it in peace;** and if he wishes to sell it, to be reasonably sure that no flaw or doubt will come up to disturb its marketable value.

*Hebb supra.*, at 166-167. (emphasis added).

The *Hebb* case is distinguishable from the case at bar as follows:

(1) In *Hebb* it was a direct, present, and existing defect on the title to the real property in question, not on some other property; and (2) the focus was on the risk of the buyer losing his title, not some future risk of a monetary obligation due to his membership of an organization that has a judgment against it. That is why the Court in *Hebb* took time to define "encumbrance" because it has to be some lien or defect against the seller's title to the real property.<sup>1</sup>

An "encumbrance" has been defined by this court to be any right to, or interest in, land which may subsist in third persons, to the diminution of the value of the estate of the tenant, but consistent with the passing of the fee; and, also, as a burden upon land depreciative of its value, such as a lien, easement, or servitude, which, though adverse to the interest of the landowner, does not conflict with his conveyance of the land in fee. *Green v. Tidball*, 26 Wash. 338, 67 Pac. 84, 55 L.R.A. 879; *Linne v. Bredes*, 43 Wash. 540, 86 Pac. 858, 117 Am. St. 1068, 6 L.R.A. (N.S.) 707.

*Hebb supra.*, at 167.

---

<sup>1</sup> The Appellant is unaware of any appellate decision where the Court has found a breach of marketable title without also finding a breach of the warranty against encumbrances.

In the case of *Shinn v. Thrust IV, Inc.* 56 Wn. App. 827, 847-848, 786 P.2d 285, 297 (1990) that Court opinion, again, does not contradict the opinion of the Court of Appeals in the case at bar. Although the *Shinn* case is complex, the essence of that case was a determination that there was an encumbrance on the property relating to the violation of a restriction on a Short Plat. In other words, something that directly related to the title of the property. In fact, the Court specifically commented on the question of breach of marketable title along these very lines of reasoning. That is, that any question regarding a marketable title must specifically relate to an encumbrance that does in fact affect the title in a significant and not fanciful way.

With respect to legal doubts about title, a title is marketable so long as the doubt is not one which will cause the judicial mind to hesitate before deciding it; or, as otherwise characterized, a "real" and not "fanciful" doubt, *or such a doubt or uncertainty about the title as will be sufficient to form the basis of litigation.*

. . . Where there are known facts which cast legal doubt upon a title, so that the person holding it may be exposed to reasonable probability of litigation, the title is not marketable. *Flood v. Von Marcard*, 102 Wash. 140, 172 P. 884 (1918). (Italics ours.) Washington State Bar Ass'n, *Real Property Deskbook* § 34.11, at 34-12 (2d ed. 1986).

*Shinn v. Thrust IV*, 56 Wn. App. 827, 847-848, 786 P.2d 285, 297 (1990) (emphasis added)

If this Court were to adopt the full breadth of Nelson's interpretation of *Hebb* and *Shinn*, then, to a purchaser, any annoyance, no matter how distant and unrelated to the real property in question, would become a legitimate claim of breach of the warranty of marketable title. A neighbor's dog barking, loud train horns at night, early risers mowing their lawn, would all, by Nelson's definition, be a breach of marketable title, if not properly excepted from the deed. *Hebb* does not stand for that proposition because those examples (as the situation in this case) is not an encumbrance on the title. That is not the law and, therefore, the Court of Appeals herein is entirely consistent with the *Hebb* decision.

**II. THE DUTY TO PROVE A BREACH OF THE WARRANTY OF MARKETABLE TITLE RESTS UPON THE PARTY CLAIMING THE SAME.**

It is the responsibility of Nelson to prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, that Ensberg has breached any of the warranties in the Statutory Warranty Deed, including the warranty against marketable title. Nelson has (in his Petition for Review) errantly argued that the Motion to Publish the Court of Appeals' decision has any merit or relevancy to the legal holding of the Court of Appeals. The issue of

whether a purchaser should rely on a title report for purposes of purchasing a property is not the issue before this Court. The fact that the title insurance company was willing to insure around the defect in the *Hebb, supra.*, case and the fact that one title insurance company (First American Title) did not identify the judgment against the homeowner's association as a defect in contrast to a second title insurance company in this case identifying it as an exception and then as a "note," proves exactly the point raised by Ensberg in his motion to the Court of Appeals to publish the decision. That is, title insurance companies do not make or decide law regarding a breach of warranties of title. Title insurance companies simply identify any particular item that poses as an unacceptable risk to them for purposes of insurance.

In one case, a title insurance company may be satisfied and not consider it a risk, or be willing to even insure around it. However, whether a title insurance company is willing to take such action or not, does not create law as to a breach of warranties of title. This Court, in the *Hebb* decision, makes that very point when it concluded that the title was "unmarketable; and that it was **not made marketable** by a showing of willingness on the part of a **title insurance company**, to insure the

appellants against loss incurred by them because of that encumbrance.”  
*Hebb, supra.*, at 165-166.

In the case at bar, the arguments raised on motion to publish are not relevant to this petition. However, the Court of Appeals’ decision consistently supports the *Hebb* decision that title insurance companies do not control or determine law. Appellate Courts make that determination and Trial Courts rule based upon Appellate Court decisions, not based upon what a title insurance company thinks is an acceptable risk. There is no inconsistency and the Court of Appeals’ decision stands without need for additional review by the Supreme Court.

**III. APPELLANT NELSON HEREBY REQUESTS AN AWARD OF REASONABLE ATTORNEY’S FEES AND EXPENSES PURSUANT TO RAP 18.1(j).**

RAP 18.1(j) allows the responding party (Appellant Ensberg) an award of attorney’s fees in the event the Supreme Court denies Nelson’s petition for review. RAP 18.1(j) specifically grants reasonable attorney’s fees and expenses in that case where the Supreme Court denies review and the Court of Appeals awarded attorney’s fees and costs to the prevailing party.

In this case, the Court of Appeals did in fact award attorney's fees and costs to the prevailing party (Appellant Ensberg) and, therefore, should be granted attorney's fees herein, if the Supreme Court denies review.

### CONCLUSION